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A Note on the Text





In quotations, style follows the source cited, hence the variations in spelling and capitalisation.


 


The spelling of names follows that in the Oxford Dictionary of National Biography, and these change as people receive new titles and ranks (Hyde to Clarendon, Monck to Albemarle, Palmer to Castlemaine etc.)


 


Charles II ruled three kingdoms – England and Wales, Scotland, and Ireland. Where the interests of all three are combined, I have occasionally used the term ‘Britain’.


 


With regard to dates, until 1753, the English used the Julian calendar and the rest of Europe the revised Gregorian calendar, which was ten days ahead (eleven in the next century). I have given the dates used in British documents and diaries.
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‘A King in a Commonwealth is like the Heart in a Body, the Root in the Tree … the Sun in the Firmament.’


 


THOMAS REEVE, England’s Beauty in seeing King Charles restored, 1661


 


‘A pox on all kings!’


 


AN OLD WOMAN, watching Charles’s entry into London, 1660


 


‘It is in the Lawes of a Commonwealth, as in the Lawes of Gameing; whatsoever the Gamesters all agree on, is Injustice to none of them.’


 


THOMAS HOBBES, Leviathan, 1651
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Prologue: The Republic Trumped







Hazard is the most bewitching game that is played on the Dice; for when a man begins to play, he knows not when to leave off; and having once accustomed himself to play at Hazard, he hardly, ever after, minds anything else.


 


attrib. CHARLES COTTON, The Compleat Gamester, 1674





CHARLES II WAS A GAMBLING MAN. He was not a wild player at dice or cards – he left the big stakes to his courtiers. But he took risks, judged odds and staked all, including his kingdom. He kept his cards close to his chest and made it hard to guess his hand. He borrowed to cover his bets. Some said his soul was in hock to the French king, the Pope, or the Devil. Many asked whether Charles was playing for himself, or for the nation. And who were the winners and losers?


This book is about the first ten years of the Restoration, from 1660 to 1670, looking at the life of Charles II through the lens of these years, glancing back at what formed him and forwards to what followed. In his hazardous game, sometimes he lost, sometimes he won and sometimes he was at the mercy of events, charting his way through opposing factions or riding his luck, living for the moment and being ruled by his desires. At the end of the decade the die was cast. From then on he would rule in a different way. It was an extraordinary decade, marked by struggles for power in state and Church and by blows like the Plague, the Great Fire and the Dutch war. But it had an exhilarating bravado and energy, embodied in talented, flamboyant women as well as clever and sometimes unscrupulous men. It saw the founding of the Royal Society, the return of the theatre, the glamour, fashion, gossip and scandal of the court, and the resurrection of London, rising like a phoenix from the ashes.


No single person makes ‘history’, the intricate, national and international shuffle and roar of events, personalities, ideas and beliefs, grinding through human time like the shifting of tectonic plates. But people sometimes make decisions that tip subsequent events in a particular direction. Charles II was one such person. His return in May 1660 was a crucial turning point, and although the Stuart dynasty would soon lose the crown, the way that Charles played his hand is part of the reason that Britain is still a monarchy today: we call the Commonwealth and Protectorate the ‘Interregnum’, as if it was a gap in an accepted sequence.


Every regime change that is held to express the will of the people holds out the hope of lives transformed. A tired, demoralised nation calls out for change. There are petitions, riots, demonstrations, candle-lit processions. A young, charismatic man is called to power, greeted in his capital by vast cheering crowds. But what happens when the fireworks fade and the euphoria cools? Can he unite the divided nation, or will he be defeated by vested interests, entrenched institutions and long-held prejudices?


The reign of Charles II had a distinct atmosphere that set it apart from what had gone before and what followed after. The two rulers before him, his father Charles I and the Great Protector, Oliver Cromwell, had both been men of single-minded principle, and this contributed in part to the collapse of the regimes they tried to impose. Charles I’s belief in the authority of king over parliament and subjects led to his death; Cromwell’s strength forged a unity that fractured when he died. Charles II, by contrast, was pragmatic and sceptical. He had principles, but was ready to bend them to keep his throne safe, protect the Stuart line and create space for his own pleasures. The problem was that for a king at this point in European history there was no private space. Every aspect of his life, his mistresses, his theatre-going, even his choice of clothes was a reflection on his state. The king literally embodied his kingdoms. And while Charles had the common touch, and liked to present himself as a kind of folk-hero, heir to the Tudors, and close to his people, he was in fact closer to the old cousinship of European monarchs. The tall man who claimed the English throne by divine right and by blood had Scottish and Danish grandparents on his father’s side, and French and Italian on his mother’s. From his maternal grandmother, Marie de Medici, he derived the dark hair and olive-skinned Italian looks that won him the name of the ‘Black Boy’.


It is a challenge for someone like me, whose sympathy lies with the radicals and artisans protesting against abuse of power, to venture into the centre, the heart of that power. Yet it is alluring. And while I have written about artists and writers, inventors and scientists, what if a person’s art is also his life, his role simply ‘being the king’? For anyone interested in the relationship between the public and private self, there are few more intriguing characters than Charles II. The first puzzle is simply how did Charles manage to stay on the throne? His father was executed and his brother James lasted less than three years before he was ousted by William of Orange in 1688. Yet Charles stayed in place for twenty-five years. What balancing skills did he have that his father and brother lacked?


The bare facts suggest a man who needed to create a carapace to survive, to protect any coherent sense of self. He was loved by his parents, brought up as the adored eldest son in a luxurious court, entertained by masques of gods and goddesses, until jolt after jolt shattered this idyll. At twelve he stood by his father when the standard was raised at Nottingham, marking the beginning of the Civil War, the unthinkable turning of subjects against their king. He saw the palaces abandoned, the capital closed. At Edgehill a cannonball narrowly missed him. At fifteen, he was sent west as general of the Western Army; at sixteen he fled to the Scilly Isles, then Jersey, then to France. He was nineteen when his father was executed. In the years that followed he scoured foreign courts for aid, broke and hopeless.


In exile he devised a strategy based on charm, outward compliance and private evasion. He escaped the competing demands of his mother Henrietta Maria and his anxious senior courtiers, not in books but in wild bodily release: riding, tennis, sailing, gambling and sex. He knew what it was to cadge loans and dodge creditors. He kept up all the structures of court life, appointing Privy Councillors and arranging presence chambers for audiences, even while living in cold rented rooms. To hide hurt, or hope, he practised looking as if he took nothing seriously, especially not work or religion. He found an inner life by absenting himself, mentally. He knew too, what it was to fail. ‘Those who will not believe anything to be reasonably designed, except it be successfully executed,’ he wrote when he was twenty-five, ‘had need of a less difficult game to play than mine is.’1


The Restoration was an age of performance, from the triumphal processions of the court and the City to the plays in the theatres and the festivals of the streets. Charles was a supreme performer, a leading player in a huge cast. As ‘Charles II’, he was both a man and a function, a wayward, clever individual and a king, whose actions were constrained by his parliament and his vast band of followers and hangers-on. He acted through others. He knew it too, hence his quick riposte to this verse of Rochester’s:




We have a pritty witty king,


And whose word no man relys on:


He never said a foolish thing,


And never did a wise one.





When Charles found this pinned to the door at Whitehall, he is supposed to have remarked, with typical laconic evasion, ‘This is very true: for my words are my own, and my actions are my ministers’.’2


As king he inhabited a construct, constantly trying to shape it to his own desires. Charles-king was split into three entities. As ‘the crown’, he was the head of three countries – England and Wales, Scotland, and Ireland – ruling through his ministers, gathering revenues, declaring war, laying down religious policy as Defender of the Faith. As patron, he used his kingly power to promote certain movements or groups and to turn a cold shoulder towards others, granting charters to trading companies, fostering the Royal Society, awarding patents to the theatres. And then, as if he flung his crown onto a chair and tugged on comfortable boots, he became the suave courtier, the merry monarch. Yet crown, patron and courtier are all performances. It is hard to find the secret, non-performative self.


Charles was clever, affable and courtly. Yet he was also a cynic, with a reserve and unpredictability fostered by his wandering youth. He found it hard to give his full assent to any commitment or spiritual doctrine. He was physically restless and easily bored, sensual and sentimental, prone to unthinking acts of generosity and sudden infatuations. He loved to be entertained, to be made to laugh. This is why he adored the theatre, but also partly why he forgave his childhood friend Buckingham so often, despite his dangerous manoeuvres, and pardoned the brilliant young Rochester for his wildness and disrespect. Whenever a new scandal occurred, or an old story was told, Charles would lean forward, asking to hear all the details. His court, with its endless intrigues, was like a private menagerie: he indulged his courtiers like pet animals. In a world of backbiting, he was among the few kind figures, ‘tender and generous’, one observer said, but this very generosity could make him seem a fool. Not everyone liked Charles’s act, but they admitted that the mask was superb. So good, in fact, that it was hard to work out if he was cunning or naïve, clever or lucky.


Our modern obsession with the inner self was alien to the people of the Restoration, except in terms of the soul’s relationship with God, something that Charles does not discuss. His wit and flashes of anger appear in notes he scribbled at the Privy Council, but no diaries survive, and few letters. Even the intimate letters to his sister Henriette-Anne, ‘Minette’, leave out vital parts of his life. But others watched him. Spreading out from the court, the king’s actions affected everyone, traders and dancers, farmers and doctors, seamen and schoolchildren. They made their own narratives to explain what was happening and used their own modes of description – Pepys’s busy diary, Aubrey’s scattered gossip, Hamilton’s quasifictionali  memoirs of the comte de Gramont, the stoical rebuttals of Bunyan and Milton. Their facts may err, but the telling is true to what they believed they saw. This is the weather in the streets.


Charles thus appears to us reflected and refracted in the accounts of others, distorting mirrors where the image is bent by the writer’s own stance. John Evelyn, trying to be fair, praised through negatives: ‘A Prince of many Virtues, & many greate Imperfections, Debonaire, Easie of accesse, not bloudy or Cruel’.3 Clarendon, who had known him since he was fifteen, wrote sadly in his last exile of Charles’s great abilities, his laziness, his bad companions. Halifax, who served him towards the end of his reign, drew him as a brilliant dissembler, a man of pleasure with a vacuum where principle should lie, while Bishop Burnet saw him as a cynic whose experience had convinced him that no one served him out of love: ‘And so he was quits with all the world, and loved others as little as he thought they loved him.’4


This was written long after the Glorious Revolution of 1688. By then Charles’s dealings with France and his deathbed conversion to Catholicism were known, and the horrified Burnet, to whom these were the worst possible deceptions – ‘a chain of black actions, flowing from blacker designs’ – re-read the king as an arch conspirator. But in 1683, in Charles’s lifetime, Burnet made no such judgement. He saw Charles as having a ‘softness and gentleness with him, both in his air and expressions that has a charm in it’.5 And, like Halifax, Burnet found that the king’s most frustrating characteristic was that he was impossible to judge at all:




The King has a deal of wit, indeed no man more, and a great deal of judgment, when he thinks fitt to employ it; he has strange command of himselfe, he can pass from pleasure to business and business to pleasure in so easy a manner that all things seem alike to him; he has the greatest art of concealing himself of any man alive, so that those about him cannot tell, when he is ill or well pleased, and in private discourse he will hear all sorts of things in such a manner, that a man cannot know, whether he hears them or not, or whether he is well or ill pleased with them.6





This is the mask of the gamester, looking at his cards, giving nothing away. Charles had the typical gambler’s tendency to compartmentalise his life, and ignore the way that extravagance in one area might bring destruction in another. He had the gambler’s belief, too, that he could outwit his opponents, that the next play would make everything right, in a single stroke. He was not always cool and calculating. Sometimes he dithered. Sometimes he underestimated others at the table and misread the run of play. But he had a streak of ruthlessness that saw him through.


 


With the death of Charles I in 1649, the sanctity of monarchy had vanished. Monarchs had died violently before in wars and coups, but this death was particularly shocking because the king had been tried like a common felon, and executed by his own people. The appeal to law, and the implication that some kind of contract existed, in which a king was bound to protect his people and if he broke this they had a right to dethrone and even kill him, was new, and startling. His son had no blank page on to which he could inscribe his own ideas of kingship. Instead he had to negotiate his way through a welter of battling interests.


The post-Restoration government, where the monarch was theoretically head of state yet parliament held the purse-strings and passed the laws, was unique in Europe. And while the continent offered a great range of models, none provided an answer as to how this new, uneasy balance might evolve. At one extreme were the autocracies of the Ottoman Empire and Russia and the absolutist monarchies of Spain, Austria and France. (Charles’s long stay in France, some people thought, had induced a leaning towards absolute power, and brought him to feel that ‘a king who might be checked, or have his ministers called to account by a parliament was but a king in name’.7) At the opposite end of the spectrum lay the republics of the United Provinces, Venice and Poland–Lithuania, the loose confederation of Switzerland and a host of smaller states and city governments. There was no ‘natural’ state.
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The execution of Charles I, 30 January 1649








In 1660 the chance of a republic vanished for ever, but time did not curve backwards. The waters did not close over the eighteen years since the civil wars began, as though they had never been. The constitutional fracture, wrought by the execution of the king and the brief republic, coincided with marked shifts in ideas of men and women’s relation to society. In all areas of life, from experimental science to personal belief, people searched for new philosophies to explain the world. Contrary to myth, the years under Cromwell had not all been dank and drab. The maypoles, fairs and festivals largely disappeared but victories were won, trade boomed and luxuries flooded into the capital. The achievements of Charles II’s reign built on the energy and intellectual ferment of the Interregnum. But in the late 1650s the mood had soured, and while dissenters and republicans lamented, the mass of people called for the return of a king.


Everyone over twenty-five had some memory of the two civil wars, of 1642–6 and 1648, when thousands of ordinary citizens had died and families had been torn apart. No one, high or low, wished to return to such a state. Many royalists changed sides in the early 1650s simply for self-preservation. Now many who had served parliament changed back again. The Commonwealth had, however, given the common people a stronger view of their rights. When the London apprentices issued a ‘Remonstrance’ calling for the king’s return, they stated that they would defend with their ‘Lives and Fortunes the Laws of this Land and the Liberty of the Subject’.8 The radical sects had also taught people to look inwards, to consider conscience as the true authority, often in defiance of the state. The newsletters, pamphlets and broadsheets, and the discussions in taverns and early coffee-houses, began to create a new forum for public opinion. At the same time, the power of the merchants and goldsmiths who had bankrolled Cromwell brought a new relationship between the City and the state that was hard to roll back. The idea of contract and exchange as the basis of social relations, rather than authority and command, was widely discussed.


As Archbishop Tillotson would later say, ‘The fashion of the age is to call every thing into question.’9 This questioning was applied to the very make-up of the universe and the nature of man. While some people still believed in portents and prodigies and the mysteries of alchemy, others were pondering the mechanical theories of Descartes and imbibing the scepticism of Montaigne. Indeed many people did both at the same time. One best-selling book of the late seventeenth century was Richard Allestree’s Whole Duty of Man, published in 1658, which assumed a world guided by Providence and advocated pious, sober living and respect for authority. It was almost rivalled, however, by the translations of Lucretius’ De rerum natura, which put the philosophy of Epicurus into seductive verse, denying divine design and depicting the universe as a whirl of atoms, in a perpetual state of flux.10 In a witty poem, Margaret, Duchess of Newcastle, substituted a new puzzle for the scholastic conundrum of how many angels could fit on the head of a pin – how many atoms, or separate worlds, existed within the earrings of a court beauty?




For millions of these atoms may be in


The head of one small, little, single pin.


And if thus small, then ladies well may wear


A world of worlds as pendents in each ear.11





This world-view did not preclude belief in God. But for some adherents it led logically to a philosophy of living for the moment, through the senses. Lucretius challenged ideas about the immortality of the soul and the superiority of man to beast, while his materialism fostered secular, as opposed to spiritual, theories of the state.


A generation younger than his advisers, Charles was attuned to these new ideas as well as to the regal ceremonial of court life. Thomas Hobbes, who was briefly his mathematics tutor in Paris, had sent ripples of controversy through the intellectual, religious and political worlds with his Leviathan, in 1651. His description of the ‘state of nature’, when men are driven by strong primal drives ‘without a common Power to keep them in awe’, conjured up a chaos that must have seemed terrifyingly vivid to those who remembered the civil wars:




there is no place for Industry; because the fruit thereof is uncertain: and consequently no Culture of the Earth; no Navigation, nor use of commodities that may be imported by Sea; no commodious Building; no Instruments of moving, and removing, such things as require much force; no knowledge of the face of the earth; no account of the Time; no Arts; no Letters; no Society; and which is worst of all, continuall feare, and danger of violent death; and the life of man, solitary, poore, nasty, brutish and short.12





The cure for this terror was for the people to submit to the strong ruler who could make them safe, the ‘Leviathan’ sucking power into himself. Although Hobbes allowed for some vague deity to keep this all-powerful leader in check, the state was a man-made construct, based on force. ‘Because the major part hath by consenting voices declared a sovereigne’, wrote Hobbes, ‘he that dissented must now consent with the rest; that is, be contented to avow all the actions he shall do, or else be justly destroyed by the rest.’13 In 1651, Leviathan appeared to justify submission to Cromwell as the de facto ruler and Hobbes was damned by the royalists. But could his doctrine of submission now also apply to the nation under Charles?







[image: alt]





Almost more influential than his authoritarian vision was Hobbes’s relativism, his insistence that language and moral judgements were not given by God but constructed by societies: ‘True and False are attributes of Speech, not of Things.’14 Good and evil, said Hobbes, were merely names that signified inclination or aversion, and these differed between men and societies, according to their different customs and opinions.15 Once again, everything came into question, including the virtues of reason and language, the capacities held to separate man from beasts.


Charles swam among such uncertainties. The sober historical accounts that chart the political intricacies and cultural shifts of his reign inevitably focus on particular institutions, events and theories. Perhaps, by looking at his life from many perspectives, we can get a different view of the real choices he made, the risks and chances he took when faced with an almost impossible situation. Charles had few great ambitions, thought Halifax when he wrote his memoirs in his disillusioned last years, apart from living an easy life. No more exile, no more bowing and scraping and smiling, no more shabby clothes and quarrelling, hungry followers. Little enough, were it not that this meant staying on the throne and amassing enough income to maintain his kingdom and his court – two of the hardest things in the world.


This book charts Charles’s game in his first decade on the throne. His first task is to assume the mantle of king, settle outstanding problems and make his mark, and from the start the manners of his followers signify a new era. The next round follows ideas in action: the conflicts of faith, the discoveries of science, the mentality of the court, and the expression of conflict through performance, on stage and off. The third brings crisis, war with the Dutch, plague and fire. At the end of the decade, Charles fends off blame, deals with factions and takes his great gamble, the secret alliance with France. The period was dramatic and mixed, and any story that follows its fortunes has the air of a grand tragi-comedy, the favourite genre of the Restoration stage. Merchants whisper in a corner, a royal mistress sulks, a man pores through his microscope at a flea. Angry MPs push forward, rowdy courtiers brawl, Quakers are hustled into gaol, shrouded plague victims fade into the wings. The scenery shifts to rolling waves, with a line of warships, cannon blazing. Or a cityscape appears, red with fire. There are crowd scenes, tender duets, harsh betrayals. In the centre, from first to last, is a solitary hero, playing a game. He shuffles the cards, deals, looks at his hand and lays down his bets.
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Habit de Cartier, by Nicolas de Larmessin, c.1690

























1


Sailing







At length, by wonderful impulse of fate,


The people call him back to help the State;


And what is more, they send him money, too,


And clothe him all from head to foot anew


    ANON., ‘A Historicall Poem’1





IT WAS LATE SPRING, with a fair May breeze in the Channel. Ahead lay England, the hollow lanes of Kent heavy with hawthorn, the hedgerows dusty with chalk. Behind lay Holland: Delft, with its bridges and canals and poor-boxes in every theatre; the neat houses of the Hague where maypoles stood outside each door. Behind lay wintry exile; before lay summer and glorious return.


All afternoon Charles paced the deck in his new clothes. As he walked with long, fast strides, the sailors examined their king. At twenty-nine, he was tall and dark, his face strong, with a long nose, heavy jaw and brown eyes slanting under thick, arched brows. He wore his own dark hair, and bore a hint of a moustache above full lips. His mouth could curl in amusement, purse in thought, tighten in anger. A mobile, sensual face. Today he smiled and cracked jokes to the audience that scuttled behind him, weaving between barrels, tripping over ropes.


The very ship shouted his triumph. Until the evening before, 23 May 1660, when it was still moored off Scheveningen, the port of the Hague, it had been the flagship Naseby, named after the battle of 1645 when Cromwell routed the royalist forces. It was built ten years later, a powerful three-decker, bulging with tiers of guns behind square portholes. When it was launched John Evelyn and his brother went to see ‘the greate Ship, newly built, by the Usurper Oliver, carrying 96 brasse Guns, & of 1000 tunn: In the prow was Oliver on horseback trampling 6 nations under foote, a Scott, Irishman, Dutch, French, Spaniard & English’. A statue of Fame ‘held a laurell over his insulting head, & the word God with us’.2


God and the people, it seemed, had now made a different choice. Before the fleet weighed anchor the king and his brother James, Duke of York – who had been reinstated by parliament as High Admiral of the Fleet, a role his father had given him when he was nine – amended the names of the ships. The Naseby, which had trumpeted the royalists’ humiliation, became the Royal Charles. The Richard (son of Cromwell) took the Duke’s name, James, while the Dunbar, also marking defeat in battle, became the Henry, named after Charles’s younger brother, Henry, Duke of Gloucester. The Speaker, voicing the power of the Commons, became the feminine Mary, for his sister the Princess of Orange, and the Lambert, honouring the brave republican general, took the name shared by Charles’s mother and youngest sister, Henrietta. This family flotilla was surrounded by maritime cheers: the Winsley became the Happy Return; the Cheriton the Speedwell; the Bradford the Success, and with them sailed the London and the Swiftsure. The flotilla was blessed, as with an amulet, with a necklace of names.


Over the past month, when the Royal Charles-to-be had stood at anchor in the Downs off Deal, carpenters, sail-makers and chandlers rushed to refurbish it. The insulting figurehead of Cromwell was ripped down and replaced by Neptune flourishing his trident, riding on a sea-shell drawn by horses rising from the waves.3 Edward Montagu, who was in charge of the fleet, asked his twenty-six-year-old assistant Samuel Pepys to order silk flags and ‘scarlett waistcloathes’ – the painted canvas covering the hammocks when they were stowed away – and to arrange for a special barge to bring the king on board, with trumpets and fiddlers. The ship was stocked with provisions, including a hundred pounds of beef, and silver plate for the royal table. Montagu had been in secret communication with Charles for the past month and on 10 May he received a message from General Monck saying that ‘the King’s friends thought his Majesty’s present repair to London was absolutely necessary and therefore wished me to sail and waft the King over as soon as I could’.4 Two days later he set sail for the Dutch coast, leaving the rest of his small fleet to follow. Even so, the ship was not quite prepared. On the voyage tailors and painters hastily cut yellow cloth into the shape of a crown and ‘C.R.’ and sewed it onto a fine sheet, which they tacked onto the flag instead of the State’s arms.5 They arrived in Dutch waters two days later. For the next week a gale rocked the ships at their anchors, in winds so violent that any thought of leaving was set aside. The time was spent in diplomatic gatherings, exchanges of courtesies, banquets and feasts.


At last the storms calmed. On Tuesday 22 May, the Duke of York – tall, thickset, handsome and stubborn – boarded the Naseby, so soon to be renamed, accompanied by the Duke of Gloucester. With a bevy of dignitaries the two dukes toured the ship and feasted off sides of beef on Montagu’s silver plate. It was an eve of celebration and firing of cannon (Pepys fired his own gun outside his cabin and gave himself a black eye).6 Next morning streams of people poured on board including the eighteen Lords Commissioners, sent to bring Charles home, and the royalist courtiers and their families. Chief among these was Edward Hyde, Charles’s adviser since his youth, his guide in exile and architect of his return. Hyde was now a corpulent fifty, often wincing from the gout he had suffered since his thirties, when he accompanied the fifteen-year-old Charles to the West Country. Since then he had been the leading figure in his entourage, exhorting the prince to stay sober, avoid women and be more diplomatic to his hosts, in whatever country they were drifting through. He also orchestrated affairs at home through a system of spies, penning endless letters from icy rooms, when candles and food were running low. In recent weeks he had organised audiences, received petitions, dealt with volumes of correspondence. Now, with his three sons also on board, he might expect some relief.


The boarding parties were swollen by lawyers and priests, actors and poets, equerries, hairdressers, pages and cooks. The decks and gangways were jammed with men elbowing past each other, squeezing into corners, cramming into the cabins. Mid-morning, Charles arrived in his coach and stepped into a small boat, decked with garlands and crowns of flowers, which took him to the admiral’s barge where Montagu waited in his finest clothes, glittering with silver and gold braid. As the king embraced him, kissing him on both cheeks, the sailors huzza’d and threw their caps in the air, into the sea, ‘and even their doublets and waistcoats’.7 Over fifty thousand people thronged the shoreline to see Charles leave and the water was black with boats. Torches and flares lit the sky. Guns fired in a chaos of noise. The smoke swirling through the rigging was so thick that for a moment it hid the ships completely from the watchers on the shore.


Following Charles and the Dukes of York and Gloucester, the women swept on board. First came their sister, Mary, with her tenyear-old son William, Prince of Orange, and then Charles’s aunt Elizabeth of Bohemia, sister of Charles I, ‘a very debonaire, but plain lady’, thought Pepys. Almost half a century ago, in 1613, Elizabeth had married the German Elector Palatine, Frederick V. Six years later he was offered the crown of Bohemia but he ruled for less than a year before Catholic armies drove him from Prague in the winter snows – hence Elizabeth’s title of ‘the Winter Queen’. Having lost both Bohemia and the Palatinate, they settled in the Hague where they brought up their large family, including Prince Rupert, the dashing Cavalier general. (Rupert was a baby when they fled Prague and was almost left behind in the panic, being thrown at the last moment into the boot of the coach.)8 A huge influence on her nephew Charles, the indomitable Elizabeth of Bohemia was the oldest of this Stuart family to learn the lessons of exile.


The royal party dined in state in the ‘coach’, a cabin on the quarterdeck which was usually the officers’ wardroom. After Elizabeth, Mary and Prince William went ashore, the anchors were weighed and the sails were raised, their heavy cream canvas crackling and soughing in the breeze. Easing out of the harbour, tacking past the shallows and sandbanks, ‘with a fresh gale and most happy weather’, they sailed south and west, for Dover.


 


Charles was returning in peace to a land he had left in conflict. He had fought since the age of twelve, when his childhood of dignity and ceremony, tutors and music was shattered by the outbreak of the first civil war in 1642. The close, loving family was separated. In February that year Charles I took Henrietta Maria and their daughter Mary from Windsor to Dover, and put them on board ship. As they sailed, he galloped along the cliffs, waving to his wife and daughter, until their ship was lost to view.


Prince Charles himself left five years later, in June 1647, in the dying days of the royalist cause, yielding to his father’s entreaties to quit England. Aged seventeen, he went first to the Scilly Isles, then Jersey and finally to France, to stay with his mother. In April 1648, his brother James also reached the continent, escaping from St James’s Palace during a carefully staged game of hide-and-seek, disguised as a girl, and then boarding a Dutch ship. Eventually he arrived at the court of his sister Mary and her husband William II, Prince of Orange. That summer, when part of the parliamentary fleet mutinied and sailed to the Hague, Prince Charles came from Paris to see James. But instead of letting his fifteen-year-old brother be admiral in fact as well as name, he gave the command to his cousin Prince Rupert, a snub that James never forgot.


At the end of 1648, when rumours spread of plans to put his father on trial, Charles lobbied the courts of France and Spain and the Dutch republic with angry, but fruitless, persistence. The trial began on 20 January 1649. A week later Charles I was sentenced, and on the 30th, famously wearing two shirts so that he would not shiver and appear to show fear, he stepped through the window of the Whitehall Banqueting House, onto the platform prepared for his execution. The news reached his son on 5 February. His chaplain, Stephen Goffe, entered the room and hesitated, before addressing him slowly as ‘Your Majesty’. Charles could not speak, but wept, furiously. Some reports say he dismissed Goffe with a wave, others that he rushed from the room. All agree that for the next few hours, he remained alone.


During the year that followed, all the European powers accepted Cromwell’s authority, while Charles vainly begged for their support. By 1650 he seemed desperate, seeking distraction and choosing as his companion George Villiers, the mercurial Duke of Buckingham, five years his senior. After the violent stabbing of his father, the first duke, hated favourite of James I and Charles I, the baby George and his brother Francis, born after his father’s death, were made royal wards. The Villiers brothers had thus grown up with the royal children but during the civil wars they toured the continent with their tutors, lingering in the Florence of Lorenzo de’ Medici, studying amid Rome’s baroque splendour, dallying in Venice and Geneva. On their return to England in 1649 they joined a reckless uprising in which Francis was killed, trapped with his back pinned against an oak tree. Buckingham fled to the exiled court. Both he and Charles had known tragedy, but to Charles, at nineteen, his friend’s life seemed glamorous in contrast to his own shifting existence. In the words of Gilbert Burnet, Buckingham was then ‘a man of noble appearance and of a most lovely wit, wholly turned to mirth and pleasure … the pleasantness of his humour and conversation, the extravagance and sharpness of his wit, unrestrained by any modesty or religion, drew persons of all affections and inclinations to like his company.’9 But in Burnet’s view, his scepticism and propensity to ridicule was dangerous, ‘he possessed the young king with very ill principles both as to religion and morality, and with a very mean opinion of his father, whose stiffness was with him a frequent subject of raillery’.


The charismatic Buckingham played his part in the next disastrous move, when Charles, whose armies in Ireland had now been defeated, turned to the Scots. This was a painful choice. The Scottish rebellion against his father’s imposition of the Anglican prayer book, and their signing of the National Covenant to uphold the presbyterian principles of the Scottish kirk, had spurred the course towards war in the late 1630s. And although they had later changed sides to support the king, they had finally handed him over to the parliamentary forces, and thus to his death. In approaching the Scots Charles was urged on by Buckingham, the Marquess of Argyll, the dominant figure in the kirk regime, and the Earl of Lauderdale, a Covenanter who nevertheless in 1648 had negotiated the ‘Engagement’ that secured Scottish support for the defeated Charles I. At last, after weeks of fraught negotiations, Charles agreed to accept the authority of the kirk. If his protestant French grandfather Henry IV had thought Paris worth a mass, Argyll reminded him, then perhaps Britain was worth a covenant. He was too late, however, to stop the Earl of Montrose, whom he had previously ordered to invade Scotland. By the time Charles’s message arrived, Montrose’s small army had been slaughtered in a Highland glen. Montrose himself was executed in Edinburgh, proclaiming his loyalty to the last.


After a long and stormy North Sea passage Charles landed at Garmouth, on the Spey, and on 3 July 1650, still aboard ship, he swore the solemn oath to uphold the National Covenant, and promised to follow the presbyterian form of worship approved by the General Assembly of the Kirk, ‘and shall never make any opposition to any of these, nor endeavour any alteration therein’.10 It was a cynical oath, sworn in desperation. The Scots knew this, and gloried in their power. When Charles travelled south down the coast to Aberdeen, he found the hand of Montrose nailed to the Tolbooth across the road from his lodgings. He said nothing, but he would never forget nor forgive. Although he was taken with great ceremony to Edinburgh and then to Perth, he was virtually the prisoner of the kirk, enduring long sermons and humiliating lectures.


Within a month of his arrival, Cromwell invaded, and in September the Scots army was defeated at Dunbar. The setback was made worse by the news that his sister Elizabeth, a prisoner at Carisbrooke Castle, had died of consumption, at the very point that she and his young brother Henry were given leave to go to France. In early October Charles used the pretext of a hunting trip to escape, hoping to raise royalist support in the Highlands, but he was soon overtaken, found exhausted in a peasant’s cottage, and brought back to Perth. The Scots tried to make amends in January by crowning him King of Scotland in Scone, but as the months passed he grew increasingly bitter and when parliamentary troops crossed the Firth of Forth in July, he burst into action. With twelve thousand troops, he marched south. He hoped England would rise to greet him, but the people were sick of war and few would march with their old enemy the Scots. Buckingham sulked when Charles refused to let him lead the troops and when they were deep in England, with no chance of turning back, Cromwell caught up with them at Worcester. With twice the number of soldiers, on 3 September 1651, fighting through the narrow streets, he destroyed the Scottish army.
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Princess Elizabeth, portrayed in the frontispiece of Christopher Wase’s translation of Sophocles’ Electra, 1649. This was dedicated to the princess, thus casting Charles II as Orestes.








Everyone present praised Charles’s courage. ‘Certainly a braver Prince never lived,’ said one of his officers, ‘having in the day of the fight hazarded his person much more than any officer of his army, riding from regiment to regiment.’11 His escape, too, was quick, decisive and bold. Now, nine years later, as he strode the deck of the Royal Charles, this was the story he returned to. ‘All the afternoon the King walked here and there, up and down (quite contrary to what I thought him to have been), very active and stirring,’ wrote Pepys.12




Upon the quarterdeck he fell into discourse of his escape from Worcester, where it made me ready to weep to hear the stories that he told of his difficulties that he had passed through, as his travelling four days and three nights on foot, every step up to his knees in dirt, with nothing but a green coat and a pair of country breeches on, and a pair of country shoes that made him so sore all over his feet, that he could scarce stir.





Although a huge reward of £1,000 was on his head, and all were asked to watch out for ‘a tall black man, over two yards high’, Charles dodged his pursuers with the help of the royalist network and his own wits and charm. He took refuge with Catholic gentry in Shropshire and Staffordshire before cutting his long black hair short and working his way across the West Country as a servant of Jane Lane, a colonel’s daughter travelling to help her sister-in-law in childbirth. As a servant should, he rode on horseback with her, doffing his cap to his betters, overseeing the shoeing of a horse, fumbling with a kitchen jack, joking with ostlers and grooms. Finding no chance of a boat from Bristol or Bridport in Dorset, both bristling with Commonwealth troops, Charles turned east, along the south coast. People guessed who he was, but no one betrayed him. In Brighton, as he stood with his hands on the back of a chair near the fire, an innkeeper knelt down and kissed his hand, ‘saying, that he would not ask him who he was, but bid God bless him whither he was going’.13
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Colonel Wilmot escorting Charles and Jane Lane.








At last, after nearly six weeks, he found a passage in a collier brig from Shoreham in Sussex to Fécamp in Normandy. In a final scare, just off the French coast, the crew spotted a boat nearby that looked like a privateer and Charles and his companion Henry Wilmot, who had stayed by his side since Worcester at constant risk of his life, slipped into a small cock-boat manned by the ship’s mate, a Quaker named Carver. As they neared the shore, Carver hoisted Charles onto his shoulders and carried him through the surf. By the time he reached Rouen he was so exhausted and ragged that the innkeepers took him for a vagrant and before he left they checked his room to see if anything was stolen.


In gratitude, the following year Charles created Wilmot Earl of Rochester, and when Wilmot died in 1658 he made his ten-year-old son John his foster son, the small boy who would grow up to be poet, satirist and tragic libertine. For years Charles stayed quiet about these adventures for fear of reprisals against his helpers, but now, on board ship, he could speak, and later he would shower them with honours. The escape from Worcester became a favourite story, soon embellished with the account of his day in the great oak at Boscobel, spying through the branches on the searchers below. The story was a reminder, to himself and to others, of what he could achieve. He had been cool and quick-thinking in sudden danger; he had enjoyed the variety, the disguise, the challenges, the fast pace. He had been courteous, never rattled, getting on easily with men and women he would not normally meet, from country matrons to soldiers, merchants and servants. Perhaps, too, he returned to these days so often because the help of the common people had given him a sense that he was loved, something he rarely felt in the flattery of the court.


When he told his story in mid-Channel in May 1660, his hearers were astounded, just as he intended. That evening he ate alone in his newly gilded cabin, treading luxurious Turkey rugs, slipping between fine linen sheets, pulling up the covers with their gold and silver fringes. But late into the night, in less comfortable quarters, Pepys and his friends were still talking of the king’s escape, ‘as how he was fain to eat a piece of bread and cheese out of a poor boy’s pocket; how, at a Catholique house, he was fain to lie in the priest’s hole a good while’. It was a calm night, with the waves lapping against the hull under a full moon, and the stars and flaring torches on the boats reflected in the inky Channel deeps. So calm, indeed, that wherries took excited groups back and forth, visiting their friends in the other ships into the early hours. Finally the company broke up. Under sail all night, the ships were quiet except for the cry of the watch.
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Landing







And welcome now, great monarch, to your own;


Behold th’ approaching cliffs of Albion;


It is no longer motion cheats your view,


As you meet it, the land approacheth you.


     JOHN DRYDEN, ‘Astraea Redux’





AS DAY DAWNED, the company on the Royal Charles rose early. Pepys dressed up in his best stockings and showed off the new wide tops to his boots. ‘Extraordinary press of Noble company, and great mirth all the day … Walking upon the decks, where persons of Honour all the afternoon.’1 Among the crowd was the playwright Thomas Killigrew, now in his late forties, who had been a page to Charles I and a favourite of Henrietta Maria. He had followed their son into exile, acting as Charles’s agent in Venice (sent back after complaints of his debauchery), and had then married a wealthy Dutch wife and settled in Holland, fighting for the Friesland army.2 The Killigrews had been a court family since the time of Elizabeth I, and Thomas’s elder brothers, William and Henry, were a diplomat and a royal chaplain. But while they were university-educated, Thomas was not. The most exuberant of twelve children of a lively musical and intellectual family, he made his way by his wits. On board ship he told risqué stories and composed a song about the cut-purse Moll Frith, ‘which he sang to Charles II till tears of laughter ran down the merry monarch’s cheeks’.3


To Lady Fanshawe, who had been by her husband’s side all through the hard years of exile, this was a voyage of ‘joy and gallantry’. She rejoiced in the vessels sailing before the wind, ‘with vast cloths and streamers, the neatness and cleanness of the ships, the strength and jollity of the mariners, the gallantry of the command ers, the vast plenty of all sorts of provisions. Above all, the glorious majesties of the king and his two brothers were so beyond man’s expectation and expression!’4


The new king was well aware how great those expectations were. When he told the tale of Worcester, he did not carry the story forward from his landing in the surf. In 1650 he had landed on the shores of a continent devastated by decades of religious conflict. The Thirty Years War, which had begun with the Czech protestant rebellion in Bohemia that placed his aunt Elizabeth briefly on the throne, had ended only two years before. The rich lands of Bohemia and Bavaria and northern Germany had been stripped of crops and trees, their peasants strung up, their nobles decapitated, their castles razed. Sweden had been drawn into the war, then Denmark, France and Spain. In the exhausted aftermath Spain clung to the remnants of its empire under its crumbling Habsburg dynasty. In the Netherlands, after eighty years of resistance, William II of Orange wrested freedom from Spain for the seven United Provinces in 1648. For decades to come France and Spain would wrangle over the southern provinces of Flanders, the Spanish Netherlands.


Charles’s own royal relations, born of a scattering of dynastic marriages across Europe, were in trouble. In 1641 his sister Mary, then nine years old, had married the fourteen-year-old Prince William of Orange. At the start of the civil war she crossed to the Hague. But although the House of Orange supported the royalist cause, it was locked in a struggle with the States General of the United Provinces – the most powerful province being Holland, a name that the English often gave the whole country. As well as having its own assembly, each province also elected a stadtholder, a governor, and this post was usually held simultaneously in all the states by the current Prince of Orange, since the family were revered by the common people for leading them in their war of independence. But when William II died of smallpox in 1650, eight days before his son was born, the republican government immediately reduced his family’s power. Republicans in England rejoiced. ‘God taketh away our enemies abroad viz the Prince of Orange,’ wrote the puritan Essex vicar Ralph Josselin, ‘which is great work as things stood there and here.’5 When Charles fled from Worcester Mary was fighting her own battles. She could not know then that her son would survive to become one of the most powerful monarchs of Europe, as William III of England.


Nor could Charles expect much from the family of his mother, Henrietta Maria. France was not only fighting Spain but suffering its own civil war, the Fronde, the uprising of the great nobles and the parlements of Paris and the provinces. (In Paris gangs of old soldiers hardened by fighting in Germany used their frondes, or slings, to hurl stones through the windows of the royal palaces.) Charles’s cousin Louis XIV was only six and until he came of age France was ruled by the Queen-Regent, Anne of Austria, and her adviser Cardinal Mazarin, who smiled on the English exile when it suited him and ignored him coolly when it did not.


Charles camped with Henrietta Maria in her quarters in the Louvre and St Germain, skulking in the freezing corridors, bored and poor. Soon all the family were in exile, as parliament finally gave the youngest brother, Henry, leave to cross the Channel in February 1653. In Britain, any uprisings were badly planned and soon routed. The exiled court quarrelled constantly, with the Queen’s party opposing that of Hyde and James Butler, Marquess of Ormond, while the ‘Swordsmen’, loyal to Prince Rupert, veered between the two. Everywhere Charles went, he tried to keep up the appearance of a royal prince, dining off good plate, playing tennis, dancing. But for years he turned and turned and turned again, trailing his shabby band from court to court, palming royal pensions, smiling and bowing, learning to keep his counsel. In 1654, when Mazarin was making overtures to the Commonwealth and Charles was no longer welcome in France, he moved to Cologne as a pensioner of the Imperial court. His hopes rose when the Dutch were at war with England in the mid-1650s, and the Orange party flourished briefly again, but he was still unwelcome in Holland.


He was watched at every turn. From Cologne he wrote to Elizabeth of Bohemia, ‘my sister and I goe on Sunday in the afternoone towards frankeforde … tis so great a secret that not above half of the town of Collen knows of it … I hope we shall be furnished with some good storyes before the ende of our voyage.’6 When the German welcome ran out, he approached Spain, and in 1656 settled his court in Bruges, in the Spanish Netherlands, promising to help fight any French advance. By now he was adept at making promises he could not keep. In June 1658 the Anglo-French army defeated the Spanish and as a reward, Dunkirk was ceded to Cromwell’s Britain. In exile many of Charles’s supporters lost all they possessed. In the bitter March winds of this year the elderly Lord Norwich was wearing a cut-down coat, singed in a fire. ‘Wonder not at my silence,’ Norwich wrote in one letter, ‘for I have been dull, lame, cold, out of money, clothes and what not.’7


Then came a glimmer through the clouds. In September 1658, on the seventh anniversary of the Battle of Worcester, Oliver Cromwell died, after a summer of storms and portents. His corpse, decaying too fast and badly embalmed, was stored away and a doll-like wax effigy of the Great Protector, robed like a king with a crown on his head, was propped up amid a blaze of candles in Somerset House for the people to file past. Two months later, the effigy was cloaked in black velvet and carried in state in an open chariot to Westminster Abbey. John Milton, Cromwell’s Latin secretary, and his assistants, Andrew Marvell and the young John Dryden, marched in the great funeral procession.


When Cromwell’s son Richard, ‘Tumbledown Dick’, was forced to resign by the New Model Army in May 1659, royalists in Britain at last saw a chance of action, planning risings across the country. But these were designed to coincide with a Spanish attack, and when Spanish support failed to come, many groups dispersed. The last hope lay with Sir George Booth, who was fighting a surprisingly successful campaign in Cheshire. Charles rode to Calais, only to learn, just as he was about to set sail for England, that Booth’s men had been defeated and the leaders imprisoned. In his frustration, he made one last effort to wring help from France and Spain. The two powers were now allies again, and their representatives were to meet in October on the Spanish border to settle the marriage of Louis XIV to the Spanish Infanta, Maria Teresa. Charles sailed down the French coast to the port of Fuentarrabia in the Basque country, but although he impressed all present with his charm, intelligence and drive, he won nothing. While he was there, however, news came from London that turned his thoughts in a different direction. Visiting his mother and sister in Paris on the way, he sped back to Brussels.


 


The news that drove him north came from England, where old animosities had flared between the republican New Model Army and the Rump Parliament, which failed to meet one of the conditions on which the army had restored it to power, namely to give the troops their arrears of pay. In October, General John Lambert marched to London and summarily dismissed the Rump. Power now lay with the army council, and government broke down. Taxes went uncollected and the goldsmiths took their hoard out of the capital. The army itself was split by faction and on Boxing Day – when Charles arrived back in Brussels – the Rump Parliament reassembled and ordered Lambert to disband his forces. He refused. The resolution of the impasse lay far to the north, on the Scottish border, where George Monck, supreme commander of the army in Scotland, had massed his troops. For weeks, Monck gave no hint which way he would jump. Then on New Year’s Day 1660, he crossed the border. In a cold January with great falls of snow, he marched south. He claimed that he was coming to the capital to demand pay for his troops, but he was besieged on all sides by petitioners asking that he press for a ‘full and free Parliament’, a newly elected body. Everyone knew that such a parliament would vote for the king’s return.


In York, Lord Fairfax, the greatest of the early parliamentarian generals, who had resigned at the time of Charles I’s trial, brought his volunteer forces to join Monck’s parade. With him came Buckingham, who had spent much of the Interregnum trying by devious means to regain his sequestered estates – half of which had been given to Cromwell and half to Fairfax – and had married Fairfax’s daughter Mary, an alliance that stunned royalists and Cromwellians alike. On 3 February Buckingham and Monck reached the capital. Within days of Monck’s arrival, wrote Pepys, ‘Boys do now cry “Kiss my Parliament!” instead of “Kiss my arse!” so great and general a contempt is the Rump come to among all men, good and bad.’8
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General Monck, Duke of Albemarle








On 11 February, with the support of the Common Council of the City of London, Monck forced the Rump Parliament to admit the moderate MPs who had been excluded by ‘Pride’s Purge’ in 1648, and arrange for a ‘free’ election. Excited citizens plied Monck’s soldiers with drinks and money. Church bells pealed. Bonfires blazed along Cheapside, down Fleet Street and the Strand and in St James’s. Rumps of beef were roasted in the street and the butchers made music with their knives.


A few brave spirits tried to stem the tide flowing so strongly towards a restoration. Among them was John Milton, who dashed into print with The Ready and Easy Way to Establish a Free Commonwealth. England should press on, Milton argued, not leaving a task unfinished, but fighting for a perpetual republic. ‘What I have spoken’, he wrote solemnly, ‘is the language of that which is not called amiss the Good Old Cause.’9 But everywhere the cry was for the return of the king.


Meanwhile, spies and emissaries dashed between London and Brussels, as royalist courtiers made contact with the presbyterian leaders of the now fully restored Long Parliament, trying to guess Monck’s next move. Simultaneously Charles was approached, daily, from all sides. Even members of Cromwell’s old Council of State like Anthony Ashley Cooper, who had so far spurned all royalist approaches, began corresponding with Charles’s advisers. He stayed cool, evenly friendly to all. One of these advances, however, now paid off. This came from Sir John Grenville, who had been one of Charles’s first appointments as a Gentleman of the Bedchamber in the West Country fifteen years before, had defended the Scillies for the Crown, and then stayed quietly in England during the Interregnum. Grenville also happened to be Monck’s cousin. The previous autumn he had suggested that he might contact the General on Charles’s behalf. At the end of March Charles wrote diplomatically to Monck, sending his letter through Grenville:




You cannot but believe, that I know too well the power you have to do me good or harm, not to desire you should be my friend … And whatever you have heard to the contrary, you will find to be false as if you had been told that I have white hair and am crooked …


However I cannot but say, that I will take all the ways I can, to let the world see, and you and yours find, that I have an entire trust in you, and as much kindness for you, as can be expressed by


Your affectionate friend, Charles R.10





In accepting, after some hesitation, this very personal letter, Monck at last showed his hand, telling Grenville that he hoped the king would forgive what was past. He had always been faithful to him at heart, he said, but never able to serve him until now. He laid down no conditions that would curtail royal power but merely demanded the guarantees he needed to win the army’s support: a general indemnity, religious toleration, payment of arrears of pay, and security of possession in the lands bought from sequestered estates.


Monck also hinted that Charles might find it wise not to remain in Brussels, in the Spanish Netherlands, when Britain and Spain were technically at war. Taking this advice, Charles moved to his sister Mary’s court at Breda. From here, on 4 April, advised by Hyde, he issued his Declaration of Breda, a dashingly confident statement. It met all Monck’s demands: a full pardon to all who appealed to the king within forty days, the only exceptions being those who had signed Charles I’s death warrant; ‘liberty to tender consciences’, unless differences of religion threatened the national peace; and payment of arrears of army pay. Charles also declared, cunningly, that all questions regarding the complicated property deals since 1649 should be resolved by the new parliament.


On the same day Charles wrote a clever, startling letter to the Speaker of the House of Commons. The liberties and powers of both king and parliament, he wrote, were ‘best preserved by preserving the other’. Although he was anxious, he said, to avenge his father’s death, he appealed to MPs as ‘wise and dispassionate men and good patriots’.11 And, he ended humbly, not minimising the pain of exile, ‘We hope that we have made that right Christian use of our affliction, and that the observations and experience we have had in other countries hath been such as that we, and we hope all our subjects, shall be the better for what we have seen and suffered.’


Charles’s followers in Breda held their breath. Sir William Killigrew, Thomas’s brother, who had known Charles I well, spoke for many when he wrote a long letter, begging him to accept any terms for his return, ‘at a time when the Nation call alowde for you! As the only cure for all their Evells.’12 Killigrew’s advice, that he should accept Parliament’s conditions and ‘putt on such golden fetters frankly’, was pragmatic and prophetic. It would be impossible, he wrote, to compensate all those who had served the royalist cause, and all those who were now coming over to his side; half the revenues of England would not suffice. It would be impossible too to satisfy papists seeking toleration, presbyterians, Independents, Congregationists, ‘and all the severall sorts of violent sectaries … whereas if your Majesty be tyed up by Articles none of all these can blame you for not answering their expectations’. If he agreed to their terms and let parliament deal with the detail, he could carry the day: ‘A little honest Arts, Sir, this way, would bring you to more greatness and power than any of your Predecessors ever had.’


The old parliament was dissolved on 17 March and the Convention Parliament (so called because it was a ‘free convention’ rather than a proper parliament as it had not been summoned by a king) met the following month. The new MPs were ready to accept all Charles’s ‘honest Arts’. The House of Commons contained at least fifty Cavaliers, men who had fought for Charles I, or their sons, plus a hundred royalist MPs and many moderate presbyterians. On May Day the House heard the king’s letter and Declaration and immediately passed a resolution to ask for his return. The news flashed round the country. ‘To-day I hear they were very merry at Deal,’ wrote Pepys, ‘setting up the King’s flag upon one of their maypoles, and drinking his health upon their knees in the streets, and firing the guns, which the soldiers of the Castle threatened; but durst not oppose.’13 Maypoles were suddenly everywhere, a huge one in the Strand in London, so tall that sailors had to pull it up with ropes like a mast, and another in Oxford ‘set up on purpose to vex the Presbyterians and Independents’.14 A week later both houses of parliament proclaimed Charles II as king.


Why did the people of Britain – or the majority, at least – want a king so badly? Cromwell’s regime had promised peace, but had plunged the country into war with Spain and with the Dutch, and although the wars brought victories, they were still far from popular. The trade that had flourished was stifled and the merchant ships that ventured out were attacked by privateers. Parliament quickly ran through the funds from the sale of confiscated lands, and slapped on constant, heavy taxes. At Cromwell’s death the government was two million pounds in debt. The team that took over after his death were bitterly divided between the moderate parliamentarians and the holy warriors of the army and there seemed no hope of finding good management. Even more disturbing was the realisation that the country now had a standing army, of around forty thousand men, who were being used to control not only Scotland and Ireland but England as well.15 The army was doubly hated, first because it was paid for by the deeply resented taxes, and secondly because it was dominated by sectarians, whose beliefs and strident moral strictures spoke only to a fraction of the population. Royalists wanted their land, money and jobs back; country gentry on both sides wanted the old local administration; many parishes wanted the familiar services of the abolished Church order; merchants wanted a trade revival; the apprentices whose enthusiasm rocked London wanted a better chance in life. Everyone wanted less tax and fewer soldiers. All these discontents paved Monck’s road south. But they also set challenges for a new king.


In the weeks before parliament’s decision was known, English and Scottish supplicants and place-seekers flooded Breda. Some came to seek pardons for friends and family, paying as much as £1,000; others brought gifts ‘in good English gold’, hoping to be remembered as being among those who first helped the king, after, as Clarendon put it tartly, managing to forget him for so many years. The cash helped Charles pay his debts and give his servants their arrears of wages, with an extra bonus ‘to raise their spirits after so many years of patient waiting for delivery’.16


On 14 May he sailed downriver from Breda, accompanied by gaily decorated yachts. As they reached Dort every cannon in the town was fired, but when they tied up for the night, Sir John Grenville told Charles how parliament had voted, and that Montagu was here to take him home. Immediately, the yachts sailed on to Delft, where huge crowds cheered on the quayside in the dawn. The whole entourage then piled into seventy-three coaches and bowled along roads lined with soldiers to the Hague. Next day, Charles received the parliamentary commissioners, six from the House of Lords and twelve from the Commons, including General Fairfax, of whom he took special notice. He acknowledged their speeches in the friendliest manner, and – with admirable restraint – thanked them politely for their notes of credit for £50,000, plus an additional £10,000 for James and £5,000 for Henry. One highlight was the arrival of a trunk brimming with £10,000 in sovereigns. The messengers who brought it found the king looking down at heel: his best clothes, someone sneered, were not worth forty shillings. When he saw the money he became ‘so joyful, that he called the Princess Royal and Duke of York to look upon it as it lay in the Portmanteau before it was taken out’.17 A trunk full of coins was a blessing, since it was tricky to cash the huge letters of credit from parliament. By now Charles was used to the cautious Amsterdam merchants and knew that it was not easy, even in such an opulent city, to collect such a sum in ready money. In the end he took at least £30,000 back to London in bills of exchange.


The City of London had sent its own representatives to the Hague and Charles was confident that their goldsmiths would honour his bills. Other deputations were less welcome. He spurned an envoy from the judges who had tried his father. And when the presbyterian clergymen raised the question of the hated covenant and claimed that the Book of Common Prayer had been so long out of use that they hoped the king would not reinstate it, he responded ‘with some warmth, that whilst he gave them liberty, he would not have his own taken from them’. He would stick to the prayer book he had used all his life, even ‘in places where it was more disliked than he hoped it was by them’.18


In his week in the Hague, waiting for the storms to calm so that he could set sail, the diplomats of France and Spain who had formerly shunned him held feasts in his honour. The Dutch government, who had been hostile for so long, served a banquet on gold plate which they then presented to him. They then added a gift of a magnificent bed and a gallery of splendid works of art, which would set the style for his own art collecting. He read petitions, he went among the crowds. Men knelt to be blessed, and women seemed to find him irresistible.
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The Great Feast the Estates of Holland made to the King and to the Royal Family, 1660, showing a marked contrast between the cavaliers on the right and the sober Dutch on the left.








Finally the calm came and the ships sailed. After the story-telling and night of rejoicing on the sea, by the morning of 25 May Charles’s fleet was close to the coast of Kent. When Charles and the Dukes of York and Gloucester took breakfast, they found that someone had put out the sailors’ rations to show them what a ship’s diet was, so they sat down and ate it: pease pudding and pork and boiled beef. Having identified thus with his sailors, Charles handed over £500 to be distributed among the ships’ officers and men. As they neared the shore, and anchored in the Dover roads, the sheets were lowered and the topsails furled. The cliffs were black with people, cheering and shouting.


Early in the afternoon, to the thunder of a five-round salute from the ship’s guns, answered by the cannon of Dover Castle, Charles climbed down the side of the Royal Charles. He rejected the gilded brigantine sent by parliament, and stepped instead into Montagu’s barge.19 Pepys was in one of the smaller boats in his wake, with a royal footman and ‘a dog that the King loved (which shit in the boat, which made us laugh and me think that a King and all that belong to him are but just as others are)’.20


When he stepped on shore around three o’clock Charles knelt and thanked God. Monck was the first to greet him and bow in homage, and the king thanked him soberly, calling him ‘Father’. They walked together up the beach with a canopy of state held over their heads. In front of a marquee filled with nobility and gentry, graciously making the first of his dead-pan equivocations, Charles accepted a Bible from the Mayor of Dover, declaring it ‘the thing he loved above all things in the world’. Onlookers wept. Bonfires flared. Guns boomed and fires sprang from beacon to beacon, lighting him home.


Sailing from Holland, Charles II laid down the beginnings of a myth: the hero of the escape from Worcester, the people’s king, who was ‘just as others are’. Yet if he would bend his ear to all his subjects, as the Declaration of Breda had suggested, he would still tower over them all. Towards the end of the voyage he knocked his head against a low beam, as William Blundell remembered:







I was present on the ship (about five miles from Dover) two or three hours before King Charles II landed in England … when the King (by reason of an accident) took his own measure, standing under a beam in the cabin, upon his place he made a mark with a knife. Sundry tall persons went under it, but there were none that could reach it.21





It was a joke but it made its point. After Charles had landed, Montagu was ecstatic, amazed that he had brought the whole thing off without mishap and sure that honours lay ahead. He came back late to the ship, wrote Pepys,




and at his coming did give me orders to cause the marke to be gilded, and a Crown and C.R. to be made at the head of the coach table, where the King to-day with his own hand did mark his height, which accordingly I caused the painter to do, and is now done, as is to be seen.
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Cromwell and Charles I, from Cavalier Playing Cards, designed by John Lenthall, 1660–2
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How to Be King







Make hast (Great Sir) to our Arcadian Plain


And blesse this Island with your beams again …


May the Sun’s influence of thy fair beams


Give store unto our Plains, life to our Streams.


So shall our Flocks yield us a good encrease


When Plenty’s ushered in by welcome Peace.


Long may you live king of th’Arcadian land


And we learn to obey what you command.


ANON., The Countrey-Man’s Vive le Roy, 1660





IN DOVER, Charles and Monck climbed into the royal coach and sat facing forward, towards London. James and Henry sat opposite. All was sedate and correct. But then Buckingham, whom Charles had greeted coolly on the shore, leapt into the boot, the great cover over the back wheels with its single seat. When Charles and James changed to horseback, he rode on behind them, a devil at their heels.


As they rode, labourers flung down their rakes and raced to the roadside, village boys clambered on roofs, old men whistled and women cheered, country girls with laced bodices and wide-sleeved smocks hitched up their skirts and ran to throw flowers. It was a strange, delirious greeting, like a moment from some dimly remembered myth. The old king had been killed in the winter chill at the dead, dark turn of the year; the new king had come in the warmth of spring, like life revived. He was a king of the May, the month of his birthday, the month of his return. He was young and virile; he would make the land fecund, bring plenty and peace. On the way, as in a folk-tale, he summoned and conquered armies, but with smiles, not with swords. On windy Barham Downs, where the local races were held, Charles reviewed the troops gathered by Buckingham and the Earls of Oxford, Derby and Northampton, with the soldiers of Viscount Mordaunt, Ashley Cooper and the foot regiments of Kent. The men were ranked with drawn swords and as the king approached they kissed their sword-hilts and waved their glittering blades over their heads before marching in his train into Canterbury. The cathedral bells rang, the streets were strewn with flowers, and the Mayor presented ‘a tankard of massy gold’.1


The courtiers who returned in Charles’s wake after their long exile could hardly believe it. When the elderly Marquess of Newcastle landed at Greenwich, his supper, he said, ‘seem’d more savoury to him, than any meat he had hitherto tasted’.2 Was it still a dream? ‘Surely?’ he thought, ‘I have been sixteen years asleep and am not thoroughly awake yet.’


Not everyone was so happy. To the old republicans it was as if they saw England dancing round an idol, a debauched crew, drinking and swilling their way around a false king. Two days after Charles landed, the governor of Windsor Castle was handed a note reporting that Thomas Lawrence, a dismissed soldier, had said ‘that he was hired of Mr Jenkin of Bishopsgate to kill the king’.3 Dismay spread long before Charles stepped ashore. A Captain Southwold declared that if he got hold of Charles he would dice him up ‘as small as herbs in a pot’ and a Lincolnshire vicar, on ‘the night when bonfires were made for proclaiming the King … kicked the fire about and said, “Stay! The rogue is not yet come over”’.4 Now the rogue had come. While some feared the worst, people in their thousands hoped their lives would change for the better.


 


From Canterbury Charles wrote to his sixteen-year-old sister Henriette-Anne – Minette, to her family – who was still with her mother in Paris. ‘My head is so prodigiously dazed’, he wrote, ‘by the acclamation of the people and by quantities of business that I know not whether I am writing sense or no.’5 He had plenty of business. He and Hyde both knew that one reason for the warmth of the cheers was that the restoration had been achieved without an armed invasion, without the help of foreign powers, and without loss of life. To keep this peaceful mood Charles must embrace powerful figures from the previous regime, both the ex-Cromwellian republicans and the moderate presbyterians who had fought against his father but had opposed his execution and had been in opposition for most of the Interregnum.


The work of fusing past and present power began straight away in Canterbury, so that the king’s intentions might be clear before he reached London and had to face the Lords and Commons. On Saturday 26 May, after a service in the cathedral – which was almost collapsing into ruins after years of neglect – Charles appointed four new members of the Order of the Garter. The first was General Monck, and Charles told him pointedly that the honour was for ‘your famous actions in military commands, and above all that by your wisdom, courage and loyalty, you have acted principally in our restoration without effusion of blood – acts that have no precedent or parallel’.6 The next was Montagu, also a former servant of Cromwell, and soon made Earl of Sandwich, who received the honour from a herald on board his ship. To balance the two Cromwellians, Charles honoured two royalists, the Marquis of Hertford and Thomas Wriothesley, the Earl of Southampton.


From the moment he landed, as in his last days abroad, Charles faced a flood of requests. In his two days in Canterbury petitions poured in and people crowded round asking for an audience, some begging for pardon, others hoping for rewards. The Venetian ambassador, Francesco Giavarini, who raced on horseback from London, was impressed that Charles spoke to him in Italian, and impressed too by his patience as ‘at great personal inconvenience he remained standing many hours to receive the great numbers who came on purpose to kneel and kiss his hand, according to the custom of the country’.7


He stopped here for two days before the procession set off up Roman Watling Street. All the way, the road was lined with cheering people, said Lady Fanshawe, as if it were a single street. At Rochester, morris dancers swirled around the king, and at Chatham, the ships in the dockyard fired echoing rounds. The navy’s loyalty declared, now Charles had to face the army. On 29 May, his thirtieth birthday, he set off for London. But before he rode down the hill into his capital he had to cross Blackheath, where thirty thousand soldiers of the parliamentary army waited, summoned by Monck, perhaps as a silent reminder of his power. Roundheads gazed across at Cavaliers: at James, Duke of York, all in white, at Henry, Duke of Gloucester, in green silk, at Charles in his silver doublet, with gold lace on his cloak and a plume of red feathers in his hat. After a pause the Commonwealth troops laid their arms on the ground. Then they picked them up again as, technically at least, soldiers of the king.
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Wenceslaus Hollar, The long view of London from Bankside, 1647. The London Charles would have known as a boy had hardly changed when he crossed London Bridge in May 1660.








From there on it was buoyant pantomime. In Deptford, ‘100 Maydens Cloathed in White’ scattered flowers and herbs in their way. At St George’s Fields in Southwark tents were erected and a banquet held. The Lord Mayor, Thomas Allen, knelt and handed the king the sword of the city, and was knighted in return.8 The king rode bareheaded between the old shops on London Bridge, and into the City.


This was still the medieval London, with bells pealing from its hundred old churches, loudest of all from St Paul’s, crouching like a weather-beaten Gothic lion at the head of Ludgate Hill. The procession passed through narrow streets of gabled houses, with their upper storeys, or ‘jetties’, hanging out over the cobbles. Great arches of blossoming hawthorn curved over the way, and huge swags of green oak leaves were nailed to the house-beams. Flags crowned the roofs, and silken banners and rich Turkey carpets were draped from the windows. The sun shone, and the light flashed off swords and spurs, trumpets and cornets, reflected in a thousand glittering window panes. Aldermen, liverymen from the London companies, freemen and apprentices, trumpeters in scarlet, jugglers, heralds and soldiers joined the procession. As it snaked from the Guildhall to Westminster the numbers swelled to twenty thousand, taking many hours to pass. The parade wound down Ludgate Hill, across the Fleet river, past the thieves’ dens and alleys of Alsatia, past the lawyers’ chambers in the Temple and on into the Strand, with its golden-crowned maypole and its great old mansions with their gardens running down to the river. ‘I stood in the Strand, & beheld it & blessed God,’ wrote John Evelyn.




And all this without one drop of bloud, & by that very army, which rebel-l’d against him: but it was the Lord’s doing, et mirabile in oculis nostris: for such a Restauration was never seene in the mention of any history, antient or modern, since the return of the Babylonian Captivity, nor so joyfull a day, & so bright, ever seene in this nation.9
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Charles II arriving at the Banqueting House in 1660, after his triumphal procession through the city.








The king had conquered his city.


At every point Charles was studiously diplomatic. Replying to speeches of welcome at Whitehall, he addressed the House of Lords in casual, heartfelt tones – who could doubt his sincerity?







My Lords


I am so disordered by my journey, and with the noise still sounding in my ears (which I confess was pleasing to me, because it expressed the affections of the people), as I am unfit at the present to make such a reply as I desire. Yet thus much I shall say unto you, that I take no greater satisfaction to myself in this my change, than that I find my heart really set to endeavour by all means for the restoring of this nation to freedom and happiness; and I hope by the advice of my Parliament to effect it.10





Finally he sat through a ceremonial dinner, viewed by an awed public. Turning at last to leave, he quipped, famously, that he now realised it must have been ‘my own fault that I have been absent so long – for I see nobody that does not protest he has ever wished for my return’.11


 


For the first few weeks Charles was circumspect, careful to present the sober aspect of the healing king. If he was to be trusted, he had to make his kingship visible, physically and personally, as well as felt in his actions as the ‘Crown’.


When he took the throne he wanted passionately to be seen as the healer of his people’s woes and the glory of his nation. Royal propaganda drew on religion and myth, custom, law and magic. Even before he landed, Samuel Tuke’s Character had described him as ‘handsome, graceful, serious, learned, shrewd, and of good morals for some time’.12 Tuke knew Charles well and his portrait, though idealised, does suggest some vital aspects of his charm, his physical ease and his gift of attentivenes, which made people feel they were special when he talked to them:




His motions are so easy and graceful that they do very much recommend his person when he either walks, dances, plays at pall mall, at tennis, or rides the great horse, which are his usual exercises. To the gracefulness of his deportment may be joined his easiness of access, his patience in attention, and the gentleness both in the tune and style of his speech; so that those whom either the veneration for his dignity or the majesty of his presence have put into an awful respect are reassured as soon as he enters into a conversation.13





This ease and accessibility helped his cause, which was furthered by the press, the newsbooks and newsletters. News was disseminated across a vast web, with both formal and informal strands. Sheets of news had been printed and sold since 1641, and had proliferated during the Commonwealth. They were eagerly read in the coffeehouses and taverns, carried by the chapmen to the provinces, and sold in the city streets by ‘flying stationers’ and ‘mercuries’, boys and women who cried their hot news aloud, like hot pies, and often drew large crowds.14 The journalist Henry Muddiman, who had been producing twice-weekly newsbooks for the Rump Parliament, now worked with the royalist Sir John Birkenhead, licenser of the press, to bolster the king’s image in the new official newsbook Mercurius Publicus. In addition, local officials and men and women in country districts, or in Ireland, Scotland and the American colonies, relied on manuscript newsletters written by professional news-writers, to keep up with events and gossip.


Books and pamphlets, woodcuts and prints also spread the word. Within a year, works like Thomas Blount’s Boscobel: or the history of His Sacred Majestie’s … preservation appeared, retailing the dramatic flight from Worcester, as exciting as a chap-book legend. The painter Isaac Fuller produced a series of huge canvases, like a set of tapestries, turning classical and courtly poses into a crude, colourful drama of the king in disguise, the folk-hero of the people.15 One of the pageants at the next Lord Mayor’s show, staged outside the Nag’s Head in Cheapside, also represented the ‘great Woode, with the royal Oake, & history of his Majesties miraculous escape’.16


At the same time, Eikon Basilike … or the true pourtraiture of Charles II summoned the ghost of Charles’s martyred father, sanctified after his death in a book of the same name. Closely echoing Tuke’s words, the ‘true portraiture’ displayed the king to readers who had not seen the tall dark man riding on horseback in the London processions. He was, it explained, ‘so exactly formed’ that







from the crown of his head to the soule of his foot the most curious eye could not discern an error or a spot … Until he was near twenty years of age, his face was very lovely but of late he is grown leaner with care and age; the dark and night complexion of his face, and the twin stars of his quick and sharp eyes sparkling in that night; he is most beautiful when he speakes, his black shining locks normally curled with great rings … his motions easie and graceful, and plainly majestick.17
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Isaac Fuller, Charles II and Colonel Careless Hiding in the Boscobel Oak








To add to the fervour, city priests and country vicars preached lengthy sermons, whose message was clear: ‘God’s command is – Fear God, Honour the King.’18 Kingship was more than an office of state. A king was the heart that pumped blood and gave life to the nation: through his representatives his will flowed through all institutions of state and Church. He created peers and bishops, gave charters to boroughs, appointed judges, directed the army and navy, made war and declared peace. If he wished, he could confiscate all land, and he could levy taxes on all who walked upon it, on the crops and cattle in the fields, the fish in the rivers, the riches in the mines. It was treason to curse him, and to wish, or even imagine, his death. He carried his subjects, as Hobbes said, like Jonah in the belly of the great Leviathan.


The potency of royalty was almost magical, and Charles did not hesitate to exploit it. Of the many portraits painted of him, all except a handful showed him in ceremonial robes or in armour, rather than as a mere mortal in everyday dress.19 Within a week of his landing, queues built up of people begging to be touched for ‘the King’s Evil’, a tradition that went back to Edward the Confessor, the holy king. The evil was scrofula, a tubercular disease of the lymph nodes, but the trail of supplicants usually contained sufferers from many other ailments. Charles himself was sceptical and wary, but more than ready to exploit the mystique.


To begin with the touchings took place in the open air, but after a deluge in June, when the sick waited for hours in the rain, ceremonies were held in the Banqueting House. In the first two months Charles touched around seventeen hundred people – stroking their faces with both hands, while his chaplain intoned, ‘He put his hands upon them, and he healed them.’ A thousand more waited. Exhausted, he announced that while he was ‘graciously pleased to dispatch all that are already come’, he would have to defer the rest ‘to a more reasonable opportunity’. Patients could get tickets at the sign of the Hare in Covent Garden for Wednesday and Friday, ‘which two days His Majesty is pleased to set apart for this so pious and charitable work’.20 The stream never stopped, running on average to between three thousand and four thousand a year. Many proclaimed themselves cured, perhaps the result of auto-suggestion, perhaps because a disease like scrofula naturally waxed and waned. It was an expensive magic – Charles placed round the neck of each supplicant a gold coin, an angel, strung on a white ribbon – but it was money well spent. To some sufferers, the royal magic was innate in his person and needed no ceremonial trappings. According to John Aubrey, the visionary Arise Evans had ‘a fungous nose and had said that the King’s hand would cure him, and on the first coming of Charles II into St James’s Park, he kissed the King’s hand and rubbed his nose with it; which disturbed the King, but cured him’.21 The power of touching, like the extravagant rituals and processions, tied Charles’s person to medieval ideas of divine kingship, and reinforced the link to the chivalric orders of romance. But it also brought Charles into close physical contact with the poorest of his people and he managed this with ease. His time roaming the streets of foreign cities, and even his wanderings from Worcester, had made Charles less formal than his father, or other European monarchs. Observers were staggered by his lack of pomp. He stood bareheaded, gasped the Venetian resident, a style not used by any other crowned head in Europe, ‘but adopted by this king with everyone, whatever his character, for he excels all other potentates in humanity and affability’.22
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Charles touching for the King’s Evil, with his chaplains on his left, courtiers on his right and Yeomen holding back the crowds.








Yet Charles wanted it both ways. He gambled on his personal power, and in doing so staked his reputation as a sober king. He wanted the magnificence and ceremony, but he also wanted to show that his court was not hidebound by antique custom, but young, exciting, European in outlook. Although he rarely seemed hurried, in the months after his return he worked like a demon, but work done, he enjoyed himself. In the years of exile, Hyde had often lamented that he could not control the leisure of Charles and his circle, and the same was true now. Charles was already establishing a rival image to that which his advisers were engineering so carefully, and one that would prove harder to control. A brilliant, witty and sometimes wild court was beginning to form around him.


Schooled by Hyde, Charles began with good intentions as regards the behaviour of his court. The Establishment Book for Whitehall in 1660 is entitled ‘Regulations for the better service in the household’, and declares its aim simply and solemnly, ‘to establish good government and order in our Court, which from then may spread with more honour through all parts of our kingdom’.23 Immediately, however, it gives a sense of what Whitehall was really like, when it decrees that in future there should be ‘no Houses, Tents, Booths, or places to be employed for Tipling, selling or taking Tobacco, Hott waters or for any kind of Disorder’. The marshals must remove vagrants, rogues, beggars, idle and loose people and the porters keep out ‘stragling and Masterless men, any suspitious Person or Uncivill, uncleanly and Rude People’. There must be no profanity, swearing or fighting. The sense of incipient chaos even touched the Chapel Royal. There had been, declares the little rule book, ‘a very great Indecence and irreverence here … a throng of persons talk aloud & walk in time of divine service’. In future, all those guilty would be banned. As if primed for trouble, the rules insisted, too, that the Yeomen in the quasi-public Great Chamber who controlled the press of people bringing petitions or having business at court should be tall, strong and ‘of manly Presence’. These royal bouncers apart, there were an infinity of roles to be performed and rooms and corridors to be supervised.


The new court set a very different style from the formality of Charles I. In the summer of 1660 rakes swaggered in velvet coats and high-heeled shoes, flocking around Charles as he walked in Hyde Park. Courtiers crowded into skiffs in the evening cool, following the royal barge and watching the fireworks fly. Charles was restless and energetic. (Several of the formal portraits suggest how much he disliked sitting still.) He rode, he swam in the Thames, he played bowls on the Whitehall green, and even on a large barge moored near the palace, where a spiral staircase led from the deck to a bowling green on the roof, covered with green cloth. ‘It is level like a green in the open air,’ noted one amazed spectator, ‘with wooden tubs all round planted with all kinds of flowering plants and trees.’24


And wherever he was, Charles played tennis. First he refitted the tennis court at Hampton Court, and then installed a new court at Whitehall, the first for a hundred years. In this great room, with a court 118 feet long, lit by windows high in the wall, Charles played constantly. It was a hard, physical, sweaty game, played with cork and felt balls hit with heavy wooden rackets that had scarcely changed since Tudor times, their head about the size of a hand (this is the French jeu de paume). The ball rocketed off the high walls and the penthouse roof, and was served, fiendishly fast, at the opponent at the ‘hazard end’. Unlike some kings, Charles did not always expect to win. In 1662 Pepys watched him play with Sir Arthur Slingsby, ‘beating three and loosing two sets against my Lord of Suffolke and my Lord Chesterfield’.25 And he did not mind an audience. A few years later, the Italian visitor Lorenzo Magalotti noted, ‘He usually plays there three times a week in a doublet; the guards stand at the street door, but do not refuse entry to anyone who has the face or attire of a gentleman’.26 Crowds came to watch him too as he dined in public, three times a week, in the Banqueting House or the presence chamber, where the crush was so great that a balustrade was erected in front of the table.


Charles seemed to need to fill every minute, from dawn to dusk. Ten days after his arrival a newsletter reported, ‘His Majesty’s only recreation as yet is at tennis by 5 o’clock in the morning for an hour or two.’27 In mid-August Pepys hurried to Whitehall to find Sandwich, only to discover that the king had ‘gone this morning at five in the morning to see a Dutch pleasure boat below bridge, where he dines and my Lord with him. The King do tire all his people that are about him with early rising since he come.’28 The boat Charles had gone to see was the Mary, presented to him by the Dutch East India Company. Sailing, which he had learnt as a youth in Jersey, became another of his great passions. It was an exhilarating relief from the stifling court, fighting the river currents and harnessing the wind, hearing the slapping of the water and the cries of the crew. The following year he had an even finer yacht, the Catherine, built for him at Deptford. The Duke of York also had a yacht built, the Anne, and the brothers raced from Greenwich to Gravesend, tacking past wharves and warehouses out into the estuary, past the mud-flats and sand-banks and marshes. The wager was £100 and Charles lost sailing downstream against a contrary wind, but saved his stake on returning. The large yachts, each around a hundred tons, were a rare sight on a river crowded with traffic, their sails billowing among the forest of masts.


Charles also had a smaller Dutch pleasure boat, the Bezan, which was often used by members of the Navy Board to take them up and down to Deptford and Greenwich.29 He lavished money on his yachts, fitting them out and making them luxurious. Account books over the years are full of entries such as ‘carpett in the Henrietta yacht’, or ‘one fine Turkey carpet for the King’s yacht Isabelle’. The Isabelle had walnut armchairs and stools, a walnut bed with a carved end and a very large strong table with twisted pillars for legs, which would fold down on both sides.30 On his yachts, as on the tennis court, Charles showed off his sporting ability, his keen eye and love of speed.
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The royal yacht ‘Bezan’, 1661








This physical power was part of his allure, his presence as a strong, youthful king. He packed work into the mornings to leave the rest of the day free. One day in October he dashed off a note to Hyde at eight o’clock:




I am going to take my usual Physique at tennis. I send you heere the letters which my Ld Aubigny desires me to write, look them ouer, and if there be no exceptions to them returne them by twelue a clock, for I would willingly dispatch them this afternoone.31





In the afternoons, after the Council’s work was done and Hyde had hobbled home, the king was free. Now was the time for entertainments, high and low. In August 1660, in the Great Hall where his parents had staged their elegant masques, he watched a show with tight-rope dancers. The skill of the dancers was legendary on the continent and now they, and three new court acrobats, entranced the English court. The next month, in a very different venue, he went to the Lady Fair across the river in Southwark. The fair, which had been subdued during the Interregnum, now burst into life again in a fortnight of riotous entertainment, with freak shows, and monkeys dressed as court gallants, turning somersaults on the wire, carrying lighted candles or balancing cups of water, ‘without spilling a drop’. All the court went to see ‘the Italian Wench daunce to admiration, & performe all the Tricks of agility on the high rope’, and to admire her father, who could lift enormous weights by the hair of his head alone.32


Charles, however, wanted to bring smarter entertainment to London, and soon began negotiating with an Italian opera company and with foreign musicians. At Whitehall he had the old Cockpit theatre fitted with a new stage floor and pavilions in the gallery for musicians and players. Men worked through the nights to get it ready for the first performance on 19 November. In the same month, in a disdainful gesture at puritan restraint, Charles granted an exclusive patent to Thomas Killigrew and Sir William Davenant to build two playhouses and create new theatrical companies. They opened in converted tennis courts, Killigrew’s King’s Company, with experienced actors and the rights to many old plays, in Gibbon’s Tennis Court in Vere Street, and Davenant’s Duke’s Company, patronised by James, in Salisbury Court near Whitefriars. Davenant was the most innovative, with a young, dynamic company and new writers, and in 1661 he moved to a newly built theatre in Lincoln’s Inn Fields, complete with movable scenery. Both troupes lavished money on costumes, sets and music.


The most startling attraction was seeing women on stage, as in continental theatres. To begin with boys still played female roles. The current darling was the seventeen-year-old Edward Kynaston, ‘a Compleat Stage Beauty’, whom the ladies of quality swept off in their coaches to Hyde Park, still in his costume, as if he were one of them.33 But Kynaston’s reign was now over. The royal patent turned puritan disapproval on its head, declaring, tongue in cheek, that since it had been ‘scurrilous’ and unnatural to see men taking the parts of women, from now on all female parts should be acted by women, so that the plays would be ‘not only harmless delights but useful and instructive representations of human life to such of our good subjects as shall resort to the same’.34 Court women, including Henrietta Maria, had acted in the royal masques, and in 1656 an actress, Mrs Coleman, had appeared in a private performance before Cromwell of Davenant’s own opera, The Siege of Rhodes. But the first time a woman stepped onto the public London stage was as Desdemona with the King’s Company on 8 December 1660. Within a year every play was sporting dancing, fast jigs, and cross-dressing roles to show off the actresses’ fine legs.


Charles’s other new public passion was the park. He and James often walked with their courtiers and their dogs in St James’s Park, and in his first autumn three hundred labourers were called in to dig a new canal. He planted trees and groves and fruit trees and added to the exotic animals and birds that had been in the royal menagerie since the time of his grandfather James I. Foreign ambassadors and English trading companies brought new additions, from the Russian ambassador’s pelican from Astrakhan to eighty-two ostriches from Morocco. There were deer of all kinds and flocks of wild fowl, for whom Charles created a decoy, ‘which for being neere so great a City, & among such a concourse of Souldiers, Guards & people, is very diverting’.35
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St James’s Park, in Faithorne’s map of 1658, before the new canal was dug, showing the road curving round from Charing Cross to Whitehall, and Berkshire House opposite St James’s Palace. To the north, Piccadilly is an open country road.











Here too Charles was on display, showing off his physical grace by playing pell-mell on the new court he had built (on the site of the present Pall Mall), over eight hundred paces long, modelled on one at Utrecht. Here, enthused the poet Edmund Waller,




… a well-polished Mall gives us the joy


To see our prince his matchless force employ:


His manly posture and his graceful mien,


Vigour and youth in all his motions seen;


His shape so lovely and his limbs so strong


Confirm our hopes we shall obey him long.


No sooner has he touched the flying ball


But ’tis already more than half the Mall;


And such a fury from his arm has got,


As from a smoking culverin ’twere shot.36





In Waller’s rapturous verse he is the emobodiment of martial force, as well as youthful beauty, his game a warning to the nation as well as a diversion.


The court itself was diverting, as if dressed for a play. The very cut of court clothes spoke defiance and proclaimed a new age. Only two years before, Sir John Reresby had arrived in London after brawling and seducing his way round Europe, to find that his clothes and his black servant immediately marked him out as a target:




The citizens and common people of London had then soe far imbibed the custome and manners of a Commonwealth that they could scarce endure the sight of gentlemen, soe that the common salutation to a man well dressed was ‘French dog’ or the like. Walkeing one day in the street with my valet de chambre, who did wear a feather in his hatt, some workemen who were mending the street abused him and threw sand upon his cloaths, at which he drew his sword, thinking to follow the custome of France in the like cases. This made the rabble fall upon him and me, that had drawn too in his defence, till we got shelter in a house, not without injury to our bravery and some blowes to ourselves.37





Now these French fashions were flaunted in the face of the people. The men were peacock-fine from top to toe, from their shallow-brimmed beaver hats, trimmed with ostrich feathers, to their beribboned shoes or loose-topped boots, with boot-hose tumbling over the top. Their short doublets covered floppy linen shirts, which flowed down to wide-legged trousers called ‘Rhinegraves’ or ‘petticoat breeches’, hanging loosely from the hips, and garnished with yards of ribbons.38 Some had legs so wide that Pepys wrote of one man who ‘put both his legs through one of his Knees of his breeches, and went so all day’.39


From France came a new vogue for wigs (Louis XIV had forty wigmakers). This too was new and unsettling. ‘Counterfeit hair’, wrote the author Randle Holme, is ‘a thing much used in our days by this generation of Men, contrary to our forefathers, who got Estates, loved their Wives, and wore their own hair’.40 Soon wigs, like the new silk handkerchiefs that men waved nonchalantly as they walked, became a target for London thieves, tweaked off the head by a clever dog or by a small boy carried on another’s shoulders. Many courtiers adopted black tumbling locks, mimicking the king, but there was a considerable choice. You could have simple locks to cover the ears and neck, fixed to a cap under your hat; a short bob; a ‘campaign wig’, complete with knots, bobs and a curled forehead; or a frise, full of small crisped curls. It was in fashion to comb the hair in public with large combs, a nicety to be cultivated, like taking snuff.


Clothes could cost a fortune. Buckingham allegedly spent £30,000 on his jewel-encrusted suit for the coronation. Although Charles’s own coronation clothes were ordered from Paris at great expense, in daily life he was less flamboyant. One day in 1661 he turned up to see the Chancellor in a plain riding-suit and velvet cap, ‘in which he seemed a very ordinary man to one that had not known him’.41 But however casually he acted, he stayed stylish and cool, a pattern of good breeding. He dressed elegantly and formally, following Ormond whom he had always revered as a model. Ormond wore his hat stiff ‘as the king did, without a button and uncocked’, and had waistcoats laid out for him every morning – ‘satin, silk, plain and quilted’ – to choose according to the weather. In winter-time people were allowed to come to court with double-breasted coats, a sort of undress. ‘The Duke would never take advantage of that indulgence; but let it be ever so cold, he always came in his proper habit; and indeed the king himself, the best judge of manners of his time, always did the same, though too many neglected his example.’42


 


In these early months, magic and ceremony and archaic formality collided at court with colour and fashion, liberty and licence. Charles was at once formal and engagingly human. A month after his arrival an urgent personal appeal appeared in Mercurius Publicus, asking help in finding his dog. It was black,




between the greyhound and a spaniel, no white about him only a streak on his breast, and tayl a little bobbed. It is His Majesties own dog, and doubtless was stolen. Whoever finds him may acquaint any at Whitehall for the dog was better known at Court than those who stole him. Will they never leave robbing His Majestie? Must he not keep a dog?43





The urgent but witty tone was not that of a self-important monarch. ‘So affable was he in the galleries and park,’ wrote one courtier of Charles’s later days, ‘he would pull off his hat to the meanest.’44 But this very affability meant that when he chose to ‘take on Majesty’, his dignity was even more striking and effective. Charles understood the language of gesture and the old forms of kingship, but it was clear to all who watched him that his personal style was something quite new.
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Three Crowns and More







Nor gold, nor Acts of grace;’ tis steel must tame


The stubborn Scot: a prince that would reclaim


Rebels by yielding, doth like him (or worse)


Who saddled his own back to shame his horse …


No more let Ireland brag her harmless nation


Fosters no venom, since the Scots plantation.


     JOHN CLEVELAND, ‘The Rebel Scot’





IT WAS A HUGE TASK  to re-establish monarchical government, while taking into account, as Charles had promised, ‘the advice of my Parliament’. He and his advisers had to remake the administration, bringing in leading figures from the past regime, while ensuring that the king was surrounded by people he could trust. The structure inherited from medieval times remained the model.1 Power flowed from the king through the administration, divided between the Privy Council, the Exchequer and the Chancery. These were headed respectively by the two Secretaries of State, the Lord Chancellor and the Lord Treasurer. The Secretaries were responsible, among other duties, for representatives abroad, and for the Signet Office, which dealt with royal letters and grants; the Chancellor was head of the legal side of government and authorised grants of privileges and royal charters under the ‘Great Seal’.


Charles held his first Privy Council meeting in Canterbury, within a couple of days of landing. He had already appointed Hyde as Lord Chancellor in exile, in 1658. Now, continuing his careful policy of conciliation, he chose as one of his two Secretaries of State, not the loyal Sir Richard Fanshawe who had shared his exile and expected the post, but Monck’s secretary William Morice, who was, Fanshawe complained, ‘a fierce Presbiterian, and one that never saw the King’s face’.2 Morice was balanced by Sir Edward Nicholas, who had served Charles I and given loyal service in the dark days abroad, while another royalist, the old Earl of Southampton, became Lord Treasurer. These men, with Ormond and Monck – now made Duke of Albemarle – were the innermost circle, ‘the Secret Council’, officially the Committee for Foreign Affairs, sometimes described as the forerunner of the cabinet. They were joined by Southampton’s ambitious nephew by marriage, Anthony Ashley Cooper, a former member of the Protectorate’s Council of State. After speaking eloquently on behalf of the crown in the House of Commons, as MP for Wiltshire, he was made Lord Ashley, and became Chancellor of the Exchequer in the spring of 1661.


Charles’s full Privy Council numbered about forty men. It included his brothers James and Henry and seven of his councillors in exile, but the central pillar was Hyde. As a young man, Edward Hyde had been a brilliant lawyer and politician, the shrewdest of Charles I’s advisers. At that stage, as he said himself, he had been proud and passionate, ‘of a humour between wrangling and disputing, very troublesome’.3 He had mellowed into affability, he thought, and he knew that his integrity was above temptation and that he was ‘firm and unshaken in his friendships’. But many found him stern, unable to see another’s point of view, stubborn and unchanging in his opinions. In 1660, judged Burnet, he was the ‘absolute favourite, and the chief or the only minister, but with too magisterial a way. He was always pressing the King to mind his affairs, but in vain.’4


His lectures would later cause friction but for now Charles listened. Among Hyde’s papers are bundles of scribbled notes, pushed across the table in their private meetings before Privy Council sessions, or slipped across to Whitehall by messenger. And outside the chamber Charles and Hyde talked through delicate business where no one could hear them, walking on the ‘leads’, the roof of the low Whitehall apartments by the river, which formed a sort of terrace. They discussed many things, among them what should be done with one of Montrose’s Scottish judges, who had come down to London and was, said Charles, ‘undoubtedly doing all the mischieue he can, why he should not be layd up I can not tell’.5


 


Scotland was much on Charles’s mind. He had three separate kingdoms. England and Wales formed one, with Scotland, and Ireland, which had an unusual semi-colonial status. Each required different treatment.6 Although his grandfather James I of England and VI of Scotland had hoped to unite the kingdom, following the union of the two crowns in his own person when he succeeded to the English throne, Scotland had remained a separate nation. Her parliament was dominated by the crown through royal nominees, the Lords of the Articles, but her presbyterian Church resisted all efforts to bring it under state control. Charles I’s fatal mistake had been to try to impose a full hierarchy of bishops and the Anglican prayer book, which Kirk leaders saw as a weapon of Rome. By 1638 they were in revolt. In the twists and turns of the civil wars, they turned back to supporting the king. Finally, three years after their army’s defeat at Worcester, they were subdued by the short-lived Cromwellian Union of 1654.
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The Prayer Book riots in Scotland, 1637








Ninety per cent of Scots lived on the land, a third of them above the Highland line. Most of these were crofters and landless labourers, dependent on their tenant-in-chief, their clan lord. The smaller lairds, holding land from the tenant-in-chief, were poor in comparison. And in the towns, especially in Edinburgh, a new middle class was growing, consisting of lawyers for Scotland’s separate legal system, and merchants, who traded their linen, wool and salt, fish, coal and grain, with England and Ireland, Holland, France, Germany and Scandinavia. When the Scottish parliament was restored in 1660, it was dominated by the sons of hereditary noblemen and Highland chieftains. In June, when Scots aristocrats and gentry came to London, Charles asked them to advise him on the course he might take and as an interim government he restored the old Committee of Estates.


As his highest officers Charles appointed the Scots who had been loyal to him in exile, balanced by the more moderate leaders of the kirk. The Earl of Middleton was declared High Commissioner, responsible for summoning the parliament and raising troops, with his ally the Earl of Glencairn as Chancellor. But he gave the vital post of Secretary of State to the former Covenanter John Maitland, Earl of Lauderdale, who had been imprisoned ever since his capture at Worcester and had crossed to Breda on his release, just before the Restoration. Six foot five, with bristling red hair, violently outspoken, Lauderdale could launch into tirades in English, Latin, Greek or Hebrew. At court he was over-exuberant and dared to help himself to the royal snuff – altogether ‘uncouth, boisterous, shaggy, ugly and cunning’.7 Burnet knew him well, to his cost:




He made a very ill appearance: he was very big: his hair red, hanging oddly about him: his tongue was too big for his mouth, which made him bedew all that he talked to: and his whole manner was rough and boisterous, and very unfit for a Court … He was a man, as the Duke of Buckingham called him to me, of a blundering understanding. He was haughty beyond expression, abject to those he saw he must stoop to, but imperious to all others. He had a violence of passion that carried him often to fits like madness, in which he had no temper.8





Lauderdale was supported in the English court by Sir Robert Moray, whose easy tact and knowledge of chemistry and astronomy endeared him to Charles. Lauderdale himself never entirely won Charles’s affection (the joke was that Charles stopped him coming to dinner by serving horse piss instead of syllabub), but he saw him as the man to push measures through the Scottish parliament and to keep the nation quiet.


The Scots had no intention of keeping quiet. In August, a group of leading kirk ministers met, to remind the king of his promise at Stirling to uphold the covenant, decrying him for restoring the bishops and following the Book of Common Prayer, ‘upon which they made terrible denunciations of heavy judgements from God on him, if he did not stand to the Covenant, which they called the oath of God’.9 The ministers were clapped in prison. Although they were soon released and the outcry in their sermons was silenced, ‘they could not hold from many sly and secret insinuations, as if the ark of God was shaking and the glory departing’. Middleton’s arrival in Edinburgh as High Commissioner in late 1660 made things worse. He outraged the Kirk ministers with his magnificence and extravagance, and his entourage shocked the people by drinking through the night and fighting in the streets.


The Scottish parliament, however, were generous when they met in January, voting Charles £40,000 per year to raise troops, from an excise on beer and ale. In 1661 Middleton also managed to force them to pass the drastic ‘Act Recissory’ that wiped the slate clean of all legislation passed by the covenanters’ parliaments in almost thirty years, and another act replacing the presbyterian kirk by the episcopal church. The heated debates in the Scottish parliament boded ill for Charles’s hopes of peace: ‘It was a mad roaring time,’ Burnet remembered, ‘full of extravagance.’ Exhilarated, Middleton then began trying to consolidate his power, passing acts that demanded the renunciation of the covenant, and imposing penalties on leading figures in the Scottish regime of the 1650s. This was clearly designed to target Lauderdale, and tensions were bound to arise. Far from benefiting from the Restoration, Scotland faced an era of bitter frustration, its government a nest of rivalry, its merchants restricted in their trade, and its national church under attack.
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